IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-1

AMOS LEE KING,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

RICHARD E. KILEY Florida Bar No. 0558893 Assistant CCC

APRIL E. HAUGHEY Florida Bar No. 0119180 Assistant CCC

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. King was charged by indictment with first-degree murder, sexual battery, burglary and arson On April 7, 1977. The case was consolidated during voir dire with another case charging Mr. King with attempted murder and escape. The consolidated cases were tried before the Circuit Court Judge John Andrews. Mr. King was represented by Thomas Cole of the Public Defender's Office.

The jury found Mr. King guilty on all counts. At the penalty phase, the jury recommended death. The trial court followed the recommendation and sentenced Mr. King to death.

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the conviction and sentence of death. <u>King v. State</u>, 390 So.2d 315 (Fla. 1980). Mr. King sought post-conviction relief, but was denied by the circuit court. On appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the denial of post-conviction relief. <u>King v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 904 (Fla. 1981). Mr. King filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District Court, Middle District of Florida in 1981. The district court denied relief, however on appeal, Mr. King's sentence of death was vacated by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. <u>King v. Strickland</u>, 748 F.2d 162 (11th Cir. 1984); <u>previous history</u>, <u>King v. Strickland</u>, 714 F.2d 1481 (11th Cir. 1983).

Mr. King was resentenced and death was again imposed. The Florida supreme Court affirmed the conviction and sentence of

death. <u>King v. State</u>, 514 So.2d 354 (Fla. 1987). A Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was filed by Mr. King, as well as a Motion for Post-conviction Relief. An evidentiary hearing was conducted in the circuit court on the Motion for Post-conviction Relief, and relief was denied. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the denial of post-conviction relief. <u>King v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 780 (Fla. 1992). The Florida Supreme Court also denied Mr. King's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. <u>King v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1990).

In October of 1992, Mr. King filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District Court, Middle District of Florida. The District Court denied relief on May 12, 1998. An appeal of the denial was filed with the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals in May of 1999. On November 30, 1999, the Eleventh Circuit denied Mr. King's appeal. <u>King v. Moore</u>, 196 F.3d 1327 (11th Cir. 1999). During the spring of 1997, Mr. King filed a pro-se Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Florida Supreme Court. Mr. King's pro-se pleading was denied by the Florida Supreme Court in an unpublished order filed on March 28, 1997. A subsequent Motion for Rehearing on said petition was denied in an unpublished order filed on May 30, 1997.

On November 19, 2001, a death warrant was signed scheduling Mr. King's execution for January 24, 2002. Mr. King filed a Successive Motion to Vacate Judgement and Sentence on December 18,

2001. The circuit court denied Mr. King's motion on January 1, 2002. Mr. King now files this appeal of the order of the circuit court.

FACTS

1. DNA testing is a scientifically reliable procedure used to establish identity. (EX. 1).

2. Joan Wood, former Medical Examiner for Pinellas County, testified at trial that on March 18, 1977, she performed an autopsy upon the victim in this case, Natalie Brady. Wood found the presence of motile sperm in the fluid from the vagina of the victim. This vaginal fluid, or washing, was a mixture of blood and semen. (R.1797).

3. At Defendant's trial, one Marion Hill testified. (R. 1662-1672). Ms. Hill was a medical technologist employed at the Medical Examiner's Office. Hill would occasionally perform laboratory analysis for the Medical Examiner at a laboratory within All Children's Hospital. Hill testified that she received the vaginal washings from Dr. Wood and examined them for the Medical Examiner at the laboratory within All Children's Hospital. (R. 1666). Ms. Hill testified Prostatic acid phosphatase was found in the victim's vaginal washings. (R.1667). Hill testified as to the presence of type A secretor and type O blood in the vaginal washings. (R.1668). Mr. King was identified as possessing type A secretor blood, while the victim was identified as possessing type

O blood. (R. 1668-1669).

4. Mr. King, through counsel, filed a Motion for DNA Testing and a Motion to Compel Evidence for DNA Testing. (EX. 2). This Court ordered opposing counsel to respond. A response was filed December 3^{rd} 2001, along with attached exhibits. (EX. 4). Apparently the Office of the State Attorney had begun an investigation into the DNA evidence in this case months prior, as the investigation report is dated July of 2001. It was given to the defense on December 3, 2001.

5. The State's investigation concludes that the vaginal washings of the decedent are no longer in existence. According to Marion Hill, she returned them to Dr. Wood at the Medical Examiner's office subsequent to her examination. (EX. 4). Dr. Wood is never questioned by the State Attorney investigator. Mr. King filed a motion to take a deposition of Dr. Wood, which was denied. (EX. 5).

6. Among the exhibits in the State Attorney's Response was a lab report indicating that a rectal swab was also obtained and tested positive for acid phosphatase. (EX. 4). This rectal swab is likewise unaccounted for.

7. The lab report in regards to the vaginal swab, had handwritten notations "Vag wash very bloody grossly hemolgized very difficult to read" MH". (EX. 4).

8. Section 406.13, Florida Statutes (1973), was in effect at

the time of the offense. The relevant portion reads as follows: "Any evidence or specimen coming into the possession of said medical examiner in connection with any investigation or autopsy may be retained by the medical examiner or be delivered to one of the law enforcement officers assigned to the investigation of the death." Fla. Stat. Ch. 406.13(1973).

9. This Court ordered a hearing on all pending motions on December 10, 2001.

10. One Larry Bedore testified at the December 10th hearing. Bedore, currently employed at the Medical Examiner's Office, testified that he joined the office with Dr. Wood in 1984. At the time he joined the office, there were no written evidence procedures in place. (HR. 28). Thus, the above referenced statute was the only guiding authority in regards to evidence or specimen samples.

11. Bedore further testified that the Medical Examiner's office does not retain evidence as they don't have an evidence vault. (HR. 33). The Medical Examiner turns the evidence over to the law enforcement agency investigating the case. (HR.33).

12. According to the State Attorney's investigation, there is no record of either a rectal swab or the vaginal washings being turned over to the lead detective in the case, a Detective Pandakos of the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office. (EX. 4). The report contains a chain of custody evidence log. (EX. 4). The log does

not show the presence of the vaginal washings or the rectal swab. However, the log does show that two items have been destroyed, one on March 25, 1988 and the other item was destroyed on August 11, 1987. (EX. 4). The log gives no indication as to what was destroyed on those dates, simply that a destruction was done. There is no further documentation by the Sheriff's Office showing what was destroyed.

13. Evidence and property procedures of the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office were in effect for the time periods of the destruction listed. (EX. 7). The procedures state that: Final disposition of property will require written permission (Form #226, titled Property Release Receipt/Disposition Order) from the case agent or a supervisor. A Court order can also serve as written permission. Under exigent circumstances, a verbal final release will be accepted from a supervisor; however, written permission must be forwarded to the Evidence Control and Property Unit within three (3) days of release. There is not evidence of a Form #226 being executed in this case. (EX. 7).

14. All other items of evidence to wit: vials of blood, a bloody nightgown, fingernail scrapings, knives, ambulance paper sheet, slides from the FBI, plucked pubic hairs etc. have been examined or otherwise accounted for by CCRC-Middle investigators. The only other piece of evidence not accounted for is a one dollar bill found at the scene of the murder. The one dollar bill can be

tracked as being sent to the FBI lab for analysis in 1977, but never returning to the Sheriff's Office with the other evidence. (See EX. 8). Furthermore, a search of the archives has been done and no Property Release Receipt/Disposition Order or Court order exists for the two items listed as destroyed on March 25, 1988, and August 11, 1987. (See EX. 9).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I

Evidence was destroyed in this case which could have been tested for DNA. The lower court has ruled that Dr. Wood, the assistant medical examiner who performed the autopsy on victim Natalie Brady, destroyed vaginal washings and a rectal swab taken from the body of Natalie Brady between 1977-1979. Under the controlling statute at the time, Wood was permitted to keep the specimens or turn it over to law enforcement. Wood showed a complete and reckless disregard for the law governing the destruction of evidence. Furthermore, Wood demonstrated a reckless disregard for the common sense assessments of evidence reasonably expected of a medical examiner. She was a critical part of the case, she knew how important this vaginal wash was, yet she destroyed the wash during the pendency of Mr. King's direct appeal.

Issue II

Trial counsel was ineffective for not moving for an independent testing of the vaginal wash or to challenge the

findings of Dr. Wood. The lab report dated March 17, 1977, indicated the vaginal wash was "grossly hemologized, very bloody, clotted and difficult to read". This wash was the only evidence linking a type A secretor to the crime. Had trial counsel challenged the results of the blood type test, the State would have been unable to place a type A secretor at the crime. The outcome of the guilt phase of the trial would have been different.

Issue III

Trial counsel was ineffective for not questioning potential jurors on their ties to law enforcement. In a 1996 newspaper article, juror Demuth admitted she was the daughter of a police officer. This was never covered in voir dire at trial. Seating a biased juror resulted in an unreliable verdict at both the guilt and penalty phases of the trial.

<u>Issue IV</u>

Mr. King is actually innocent of the crime and the death penalty. Circumstantial evidence in the case was meager, and the evidence destroyed which could have exonerated him. Had the evidence been available for testing, results would have shown that Mr. King is actually innocent of the murder of Ms. Brady and the statutory aggravators would not have been proven. Thus, Mr. King is also innocent of the death penalty.

<u>Issue V</u>

Due process requires that claims which should have been raised

in Mr. King's original Motion for Post-conviction Relief be heard at this time. The effect of a procedural bar is to deny Mr. King due process because of the ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel. Because the State of Florida has precluded appellate counsel from raising ineffective assistance of counsel claims on direct appeal, and found that no right exists to effective assistance of post-conviction counsel, Mr. King has been denied his rights pursuant to the United States Constitution.

<u>Issue VI</u>

The Florida Death Penalty sentencing scheme is unconstitutional pursuant to <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 120 S.Ct. 2348, 2355 (2000).

Issue VII

Execution by lethal injections constitutes cruel and unusual punishment prohibited by the United States Constitution.

<u>Issue VIII</u>

The trial court engaged in ex-parte communication with the prosecutor during which the prosecutor asked that the media be removed from the courtroom during the testimony of certain state witnesses. The prosecutor told the judge that the witnesses would not testify unless there were no media present. The judge then ordered the media not to photograph those witness, giving the state witnesses special treatment in violation of Mr. King's rights as guaranteed by the United States Constitution.

ISSUE I

THE COURT'S LEGAL CONCLUSION THAT THE VAGINAL WASH AND RECTAL SWAB WAS DESTROYED IN 1977-1979 NOT IN BAD FAITH WAS ERROR.

THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under the principles set forth by this Court in <u>Stephens v.</u> <u>State</u>, 748 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 1999), this claim is a mixed question of law and fact requiring de-novo review with deference only to the factual findings by the lower court.

ARGUMENT

In <u>Arizona v Youngblood</u>, 488 U.S. 51, 109 S.Ct. 333 (1988), the Court set a minimum standard regarding the destruction of possible exculpatory evidence. The facts reported in Youngblood are as follows: at trial, expert witnesses testified that the defendant might have been completely exonerated by a timely performance of a test on properly preserved semen samples. A rape kit was used, however this was evidence that sexual activity had taken place, it did not identify Youngblood as the assailant. Clothing with semen stains on it was taken into evidence but not refrigerated or frozen. This occurred in 1983. In 1985, the police criminologist examined the victim's clothing for the first He found one semen stain on the victim's underwear and time. another on the rear of his T-shirt. The criminologist tried to obtain blood group substances from both stains using the ABO technique, but was unsuccessful. He also performed a P-30 protein

molecule test on the stains, which indicated that only a small quantity of semen was present on the clothing; it was inconclusive as to the assailant's identity. The Tucson Police Department had just begun using this test, which was then used in slightly more than half of the crime laboratories in the country. Because the clothing was not properly preserved, it could not exonerate the defendant. The Youngblood Court held:

> We therefore hold that unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law.

<u>Id</u>. at 58.

In the case at bar, the circuit court ruled, "That the vaginal wash and the rectal swab were not available for testing because they were destroyed by someone in the medical examiner's office; either immediately after they were tested, or within one to two years after they were taken, as was customary in all cases in all cases where such specimens were obtained and tested in house, as was done in this case." (Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Vacate Judgement and Sentence, signed by Judge Susan F. Shaeffer, January 1, 2002, pg. 11). Such a conclusion in not valid based on the testimony received in this case. In making its ruling, the court relied upon the testimony of one Larry Bedore, an employee with the Medical Examiner's Office since 1984. (HR.44). Bedore testified that toxicology testing logs were only begun about four

or five years prior to the 2001 hearing date. Logs prior to that time did not exist. (HR.43). Thus, Bedore could not testify based upon any documentation regarding the missing evidence. Bedore testified that procedures for the keeping and destroying evidence were looser in 1977, nor did they have written evidence procedures in 1977 or in 1984. (HR.28). Although Bedore was not employed at the time in question, he testified that once serology tests were done, the fluid and test tube were discarded by Dr. Wood. (HR.31). Considering that Mr. Bedore was not even employed with the Medical Examiner's Office at the time of the testing of the vaginal fluids, such a conclusion is erroneous and not supported by competent evidence. Dr. Wood is arguably the only person who would know what happened to the missing evidence, and she has been found unavailable to testify. (See Circuit Court's Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Take Deposition of Dr. Joan Wood, signed by Judge Susan F. Shaeffer on December 14, 2001).

Assuming Dr. Wood discarded the evidence, she was in direct violation of Section 406.13, Florida Statutes (1977). This was the only authority at the time which covered the handling of evidence by medical examiners. The law was clear and unambiguous on this point: Dr. Wood could have kept the evidence or turned it over to law enforcement and then law enforcement could have destroyed it pursuant to their procedures. Fla. Stat ch. 406.13 (1977).

Bedore further testified that upon being contacted by a State

Attorney investigator, to the best of his knowledge, the Medical Examiner's office did not have the evidence for two reasons. First, his conjecture of what Dr. Wood used to do, to wit: throw out samples after testing regardless of the law on a routine basis. Second, the Medical Examiner's Office, "do[esn't] retain evidence. We turn the evidence over to the law enforcement agency investigating the case. So per se, we don't have an evidence vault. We don't retain things of testable nature that either the FBI in those days or FDLE today would be doing." (HR.33). His reasoning is faulty because he was not present and cannot know what Dr. Wood did in 1977, and he cannot know what the retention policy was in 1977. He was not there.

The fact that this evidence was potentially exculpatory is demonstrated by the Laboratory Report Form dated March 18, 1977. (Ex. 4). Under the test results for the vaginal wash are hand written notes stating "Vag wash very bloody grossly hemolyzed very difficult to read" with the handwritten initials, "MH" and a partially illegible 1977 date. Upon reading these notes, Wood was on notice that this may be an unreliable reading, and this sample may have to be tested again before trial. The test revealed the presence of a type A secretor mixed in with Ms. Brady's blood, type O. It was the only evidence linking Mr. King to the murder and rape of Ms. Brady. Since Mr. King was a type A secretor, it was critical for the State to place a type A secretor at the crime

scene. Based upon the handwritten notes, the probability of an inconclusive reading or even a different blood type obtained upon retesting, was great. If trial counsel had exploited the obvious difficulty that the sample was "grossly hemolyzed, very bloody, difficult to read" by independent testing, the presumption that a type A secretor raped and killed Ms. Brady would have been successfully rebutted. Since Mr. King was a type A secretor, the only evidence linking a type A secretor to the crime would have been vitiated. The likelihood that a motion for Judgement of Acquittal would have been granted is great or in the alternative, the jury would have returned a verdict of not guilty.

In State's Response to Successive Motion to Vacate Judgement and Sentence, Request for Evidentiary Hearing, and Application for Stay of Execution cites to, <u>United States v. Vera</u>, CR No. 00-309-BR,2001, which quotes the trial court in the Huff hearing regarding the destruction of evidence claim, "In this case there was no obvious exculpatory value to this evidence apparent to Deputy Oxford, or to the government generally, when it was destroyed." (HUFF.83). In the case at bar, Mr. King contends that this vaginal wash and rectal swab had not only apparent exculpatory value, but rather obvious value, and that Dr. Wood, as a trained medical examiner, had knowledge of the value of this evidence.

In State's Response, counsel for the state also relies on <u>Kelley v State</u>, 569 So. 2d 754 (Fla. 1990). In <u>Kelley</u> the court

held:

"Kelley first argues that the state's destruction of material evidence prior to his trial deprived him of his constitutional In the prior appeal, this Court rights. explained that because the case involving Maxcy's death had been closed for many years, the state obtained an order permitting the destruction of evidence. Several years later, the state initiated the prosecution of Kelley when new evidence came to light. This Court concluded that the state had not been negligent in causing the destruction of evidence and further held that the destruction of the evidence in question did not prejudice Kelley's case."

<u>Id</u>. at 756.

In the case at bar, no court order was obtained authorizing the destruction of this evidence. In fact, the statute outlining procedures was not followed. The act of the destruction of the vaginal wash and rectal swab by Dr. Wood, when she was forbidden by law from destroying the wash and swab, demonstrate a blatant disregard for the statute, the only procedure in effect regarding evidence held by the Medical Examiner.

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