### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AMOS LEE KING,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC02-1

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0503843

STEPHEN D. AKE
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0014087
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 801-0600
FAX (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

by the Governor, King seeks to initiate additional lab examination on the items; however, the specimens are no longer available. Clearly, there is no reasonable explanation why such request was not and could not have been made earlier in prior stages of litigation. This undue delay results in prejudice to the State because as noted in <a href="McCray v. State">McCray v. State</a>, 699 So. 2d 1366, 1368 (Fla. 1997), "As time goes by, records are destroyed, essential evidence may become tainted or disappear, memories of witnesses fade, and witnesses may die or be otherwise unavailable."

King asserts that the doctrine of laches should not apply because his request for DNA testing was timely under the new statute; however, nothing precluded King from attempting to secure this evidence for testing years ago. Defendants have sought DNA testing for years. See Zeigler v. State, 654 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 1995); Sireci v. State, 773 So. 2d 34, 43 (Fla. 2000). The fact that his request for testing was timely does not mean his current due process claim, which clearly could have been discovered years ago, must now be considered.

Even if the evidence were available, no meritorious claim could be presented. In <u>Zeigler</u>, a successive motion for postconviction relief was based, in part, upon a request for DNA testing. This Court affirmed the trial court's summary denial of the request for testing, finding that DNA testing had been available for years and therefore any DNA claim would be

procedurally barred. Further, Zeigler failed to show, given the other evidence of his guilt, how the DNA evidence would probably have resulted in a finding of innocence: a requirement for a successful claim based upon newly discovered evidence. Zeigler, 654 So. 2d at 1164 (citing Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991)); Sireci, 773 So. 2d at 43 (finding DNA testing claim time barred as not filed within two years of the test becoming available and further, finding that even if conducted, test would not "probably produce an acquittal on retrial."). Similarly, King has not reasonably demonstrated how any possible DNA testing in this case could produce a different result in light of the substantial evidence of his guilt.

Finally, it must be noted that King's motion below was improperly pled, as King failed to comply with the new postconviction Rule 3.851 in several respects. The most serious deficiency is King's failure to offer a sufficient statement to explain why each of these claims could not have been presented previously. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(e)(2)(B). This Court should insure compliance with the new rule by recognizing that a consequence of the failure to comply with Rule 3.851(e)(2)(B) will result in a procedural bar, and expressly deny relief on that basis in this case.

For all of the foregoing reasons, King's due process claim was properly denied below and does not compel the granting of any

relief.

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING KING'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL BASED ON COUNSEL'S ACTIONS WITH REGARD TO THE VAGINAL WASHINGS

King next asserts that the court below erred in denying his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to investigate and preserve the vaginal washings taken by the medical examiner's office prior to trial, or to move to suppress the vaginal washings due to their unavailability. The court below found this claim to be procedurally barred. Whether or not a claim is procedurally barred is reviewed de novo. Bailey v. Nagle, 172 F.3d 1299, 1302 (11th Cir. 1999) (stating that whether a petitioner is procedurally barred from raising particular claims is a mixed question of law and fact that we review de novo); West v. State, 790 So. 2d 513, 514 (5th DCA 2001); Bain v. State, 730 So. 2d 296 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999). If reviewed substantively, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are considered de novo. Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657, 670 (Fla. 2000); Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999).

The lower court's finding of a procedural bar is correct. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(e)(2)(B) requires any successive motion to include "the disposition of all previous claims raised in postconviction proceedings and the reason or reasons the claim or claims raised in the present motion were not raised in the former motion or motions." Although King's motion

asserted that "[f]acts pled in this motion were unknown to previous counsel and therefore were unable to be pled in former motions," this conclusory statement is clearly insufficient to satisfy the dictates of Rule 3.851. The State respectfully submits that the failure to comply with this requirement in and of itself compelled the finding of a procedural bar.

In addition, the court below outlined the extensive litigation on prior claims of ineffective assistance of counsel at guilt phase (R. V4/630-631). King is not entitled to raise such claims in a piecemeal fashion. Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996) (stating that successive claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on different grounds are not permitted); Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991); see also State v. Stewart, 636 So. 2d 16, 17 (Fla. 1994) (ruling that trial court erred in granting stay and conducting further proceedings where claims were or should have been made previously).

King suggests that the procedural bar should be ignored in this case "in the interest of justice" and consistent with this Court's decision in <a href="Peede v. State">Peede v. State</a>, 748 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1999).

<a href="Peede">Peede involved the litigation of an initial postconviction motion</a>,

which this Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing. <a href="Peede">Peede</a> in no way suggests that all capital postconviction motions litigated previously can be reconsidered. Such an interpretation would

destroy any possibility of finality in these cases.

Even if this Court were to find that the claim is not barred, no relief is warranted under <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel under <u>Strickland</u>, a defendant must demonstrate that counsel's performance was deficient, and that there was a reasonable probability that but for the deficient performance, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Here, King has failed to satisfy either of the two prongs.

The court below noted that no deficient performance was evident on these facts:

It must also be remembered that no one has suggested that Mr. King is not blood type A, and a secretor. This is easy for every attorney who has dealt with Mr. King to determine. Ask Mr. King! One can only assume the reason it has never been said that an independent examination of Mr. King's blood has revealed anything else is because he is indeed type A, and a secretor. Blood typing is a fairly easy procedure. Blood bank employees do it all This is not like DNA testing which is much the time. more complicated. Thus, no one can really suggest that an additional blood type analysis, done by Mr. Cole or any other lawyer, on the vaginal washings, would have produced a different result. We must remember that blood typing was the only science available at the time of Mr. King's trial. Thus, it is really unfair to challenge Mr. Cole's performance in this regard, when in probability, Mr. Cole and all of the defendant's present and past counsel knew King was an A secretor, and thus, the semen in Mrs. Brady could have been deposited by Mr. King.

As to the suggestion that Mr. Cole should have developed that the evidence had been destroyed before trial, that is something that can't even be determined today. No one knows if the vaginal washings were destroyed by the medical examiner before or after the defendant's trial. The report of the analysis is

included in the state's DNA report. No one can really suggest it is wrong, that there was not both O and A blood type in the washings. Thus, it is doubtful that Mr. Cole could have shown the requisite "bad faith" required for relief even if it was destroyed and Mr. Cole had raised this issue. (See Claim I for the discussion on "bad faith.")

Finally, Mr. Harrison raised Mr. Cole's failure to get an independent analysis in defendant's initial 3.850 (See Claim II G iii, in defendant's initial "Motion for Post Conviction Relief", 14-16, attached to this order as Exhibit B.) The state responded to this claim in their response. (See state's Response to Motion for Post Conviction Relief, p. unknown, but under the state's discussion of claim G, attached to this order as Exhibit C.) At the evidentiary hearing on defendant's motion, witness Anthony Rondolino, then Chief Assistant Public Defender, and co-counsel to Mr. King, now Sixth Circuit Judge, discussed what this court was trying to say at the Huff hearing on defendant's present motion, which is that in 1977 there was no law that allowed confidential experts to be appointed, and there was no money in the public defender's budget for this. Thus, if an expert was appointed, it was as a court's expert, and their report was made available to both the court and the Often times this appointment of an expert backfired, since the results were often the same and all defense counsel had done was to assist the state in (3.850 Evidentiary Hearing, proving their case. 11/13/81, 26-27; 49-50, attached to this order as Exhibit (Note that the quality of Attachments B-F is poor. This is because they could be located only on microfilm.) See this court's discussion of this problem of having to get a court expert instead of a confidential expert (T. 33-38, Hearing 12/21/01). Mr. Cole should not be judged by lawyers and judges by standards of what lawyers would do today, but by what they could or should have done in 1977, the time of Mr. King's trial. Having been a criminal practitioner in those days, I am very aware of the dilemma that would have existed for Mr. Cole to ask the court for an expert and then have it come back to haunt him. Had Mr. Cole requested an expert, a serology expert from the FBI would probably have confirmed that Mr. King is an A secretor, and that the vaginal washings contained A and O blood type. How competent or effective is that!! Then the state could have had an FBI examiner to provide this damning evidence, instead of a medical examiner's employee, Marion Hill, who had never before testified, or been qualified as an expert. (R. 1665). (R. V4/631-632).

Trial counsel was clearly not deficient for failing to secure and independently test the vaginal washings. In fact, the record reflects that counsel explored excluding Hill's testimony and questioned the significance of her notation that the washings were bloody. See <u>Hill v. Dugger</u>, 556 So. 2d 1385, 1388-89 (Fla. 1990) (affirming trial court's denial of ineffective assistance of counsel claim based on defense counsel's failure to obtain an independent expert on blood testing). Even if some deficiency could be presumed, King clearly cannot establish any prejudice. King speculates that an inconclusive result from an independent test would have raised a reasonable doubt as to whether a type A secretor was involved in the rape and murder of Ms. Brady. allegation is clearly without merit and based solely on King's speculation. In Zeigler v. State, 654 So. 2d 1162, 1164 (Fla. 1995), this Court stated that Zeigler's "request for DNA typing is based on mere speculation and he has failed to present a reasonable hypothesis for how the new evidence would have probably resulted in a finding of innocence." Likewise, even if King obtained an independent test which was inconclusive, he is unable to show that this evidence would have probably produced a different verdict. Accordingly, no relief is warranted.

#### ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING KING'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BASED ON COUNSEL'S ALLEGED FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY QUESTION JURORS

King's next claim again asserts that his trial counsel provided ineffective assistance. The court below found this issue to be procedurally barred and legally insufficient (R. V4/633). Whether or not a claim is procedurally barred is reviewed de novo. Bailey v. Nagle, 172 F.3d 1299, 1302 (11th Cir. 1999); West v. State 790 So. 2d 513, 514 (5th DCA 2001); Bain v. State, 730 So.2d 296 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999). If reviewed substantively, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are considered de novo. Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657, 670 (Fla. 2000); Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999).

As noted previously, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are typically procedurally barred in successive postconviction motions. Pope, 702 So. 2d at 223; Lambrix, 698 So. 2d at 248; see also Buenoano v. State, 708 So. 2d 941, 952 (Fla. 1998) (successive postconviction claim that juror failed to disclose criminal conviction during voir dire is procedurally barred because counsel could have researched and discovered any irregularities in the jurors' background within the time limits of rule 3.850). In addition, the claim that counsel failed to conduct jury selection in a reasonably professional manner, where based entirely on the transcript of the trial, is procedurally barred as

a direct appeal issue. Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 697 n.16 (Fla. 1998) (claim of ineffective assistance of counsel based on jury selection was procedurally barred). King's failure to comply with Rule 3.851(e)(2)(B), requiring a successive motion to state the reason any claim was not raised previously, demanded the finding of a procedural bar.

Even if this claim is considered, however, no relief is warranted. King alleges that juror Demuth gave a misleading answer during voir dire when asked by the prosecutor "Mrs. Demuth, in reading your questionnaire, can we assume no one in your immediate family has ever been involved in the court process?" Mrs. Demuth responded, "No, sir." (DA-R. V7/1240). King learned of a newspaper article dated July 6, 1996, in which it is alleged that juror Demuth said her father was a Chicago policeman. King does not allege or show that his trial counsel was unaware of this fact, or that the juror withheld the fact or answered any question untruthfully. King claims only in general, conclusory language that defense counsel was ineffective for performing only a perfunctory voir dire. He neglects to mention that the juror questionnaires referred to in the questioning of Demuth would have provided additional information to that of the jurors' answers during voir dire; the court below noted that questionnaires have always elicited this information (R. V4/633). Defense counsel was probably satisfied to have Demuth, a mother of four children still

at home and a substitute elementary teacher, on the panel (DA-R. V7/1240-1242).

A review of the transcript of the jury selection as a whole clearly demonstrates that defense counsel acted reasonably as the advocate required by the Sixth Amendment. In addition, even if some possible deficiency were contemplated based on King's current counsel's suggestion that he would have done things differently during voir dire, no prejudice can be discerned in this case. Given the strength of the State's evidence against King, no reasonable juror would have failed to convict him of this murder. Since the outcome would not have been different even if voir dire had been conducted as now suggested, no prejudice accrued. Thomas v. Borg, 159 F.3d 1147, 1152 (9th Cir. 1998) (in rejecting claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to establish under representation of blacks on his jury, court found no prejudice because evidence was so overwhelming that no reasonable juror, black or white, would have voted to acquit Thomas). Given the lack of any explanation as to why this claim was not raised previously, the speculative nature of King's second-quessing trial counsel's jury selection, the lack of any identifiable bias among the jurors that convicted him, and the absence of any possible prejudice, this claim was properly summarily denied.

#### ISSUE IV

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING KING'S CLAIM OF ACTUAL INNOCENCE

King's next claim asserts that the trial court should have granted relief because he is "actually innocent" of his conviction as well as his death sentence. The denial of this claim was premised on the trial court's finding that King had failed to offer any reliable evidence of his alleged innocence; since this claim was denied factually, this Court must review the lower court's ruling with deference. Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998).

The court below rejected this claim, finding:

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